

UNIVERSITY PRESS

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Frontiers of astrobiology and the humanities

Julian Chela-Flores



Visiting Scientist, The Abdus Salam International Centre for Theoretical Physics (an IAEA/UNESCO Institute), Trieste, Italy Author for correspondence: Julian Chela-Flores, E-mail: chelaf@ictp.it, http://www.ictp.it/~chelaf/index.html

Received: 28 April 2022; Revised: 31 August 2022; Accepted: 14 December 2022; First published online: 31 January 2023

Keywords: Astrotheology, ethics (moral philosophy), intelligibility of the universe, natural theology, philosophy, SETI project

Abstract

One of the main objectives of astrobiology is to understand the distribution of life in the universe, for microbial life, as well as for the search of extra-terrestrial intelligence, both of which would force upon us new problems in philosophy, including ethics and theology. The question of astrobiology and the humanities being such a broad topic, in the present paper we have limited our discussion of the Frontiers of Astrobiology and the Humanities to the single topic: 'Independence of science (astrobiology) from philosophy and theology'. We have argued along the lines of this narrower thesis, but restricting our theological discussion strictly to a Judeo-Christian perspective.

Contents

Introduction	229
Astrobiology and its frontiers with the humanities	229
Horizons and limits of astrobiology and the humanities	230
Issues that are relevant for astrobiology	230
Questions that come within the scope of astrobiology	230
A question concerning frontiers of philosophy and astrobiology	231
Philosophy its frontiers with astrobiology	231
When philosophy meets astrobiology	231
Intelligibility of nature	231
Ethics its frontiers with astrobiology	232
Astrobiology and bioehitics	232
The overlapping of moral philosophy and astrobiology	232
Frontiers of ethics: instrumentation and microorganisms	233
Frontiers of theology and of astrobiology	233
Natural theology and the theology of nature	233
Implications of the search for a second genesis	234
Further care with the frontiers of astrobiology	234
Conclusions	235
Glossary	235

Introduction

Astrobiology and its frontiers with the humanities

Astrobiology is a science consisting of four chapters: origin, evolution, distribution and destiny of life in the universe (Chela-Flores, 2011). As an illustration of the wide range of scientific disciplines that contribute to astrobiology, we could raise the question whether the disciplinary nature of astrobiology is multi, inter or transdisciplinary. This question has been carefully discussed earlier in this journal (Chon-Torres, 2021). To sum up, astrobiology is a 'transdisciplinary form of research, above the multi and interdisciplinary levels, although this does not necessarily mean discarding them'. A specific example is provided by stable isotopic geochemistry and oceanography. These subdisciplines have developed in a terrestrial context. But in order to attempt to give an answer to astrobiology's first chapter for the Jovian moon Europa with a specific space mission –JUICE– these two areas go beyond each other to form a new holistic approach to be tested in the near future on the chemical elements on the icy surface of this satellite (Riedo *et al.*, 2021).

Astrobiology's frontiers with the humanities have been widely discussed in the past (Ćirković, 2012; Mix, 2016; Traphagan, 2016; Vainio, 2018; Chela-Flores, 2019; Pryor, 2020). In the more restricted context of this paper, we have also focused on philosophical and theological issues raised by non-human species beyond the Earth, taking as a first step both microbial and intelligent species (Chela-Flores, 2021a, 2021b).

This relatively new science that emerged in its full spectrum at the beginning of this century, is based on what used to be called 'exobiology'. It is supported by other disciplines, such as: space, life, earth and basic sciences (physics, chemistry and biology). Astrobiology has, in addition, been raised to the centre of philosophy (Aretxaga-Burgos and Chela-Flores, 2012; Dick, 2012). One of the advantages of focusing on astrobiology with the tools of the philosophers is that they add unexpected advantages (Duner, 2012; Mix, 2018).

Why philosophy and theology? As in all philosophical pursuits, philosophy investigates basic concepts underlying human activities. Even though the pursuit of philosophy does not provide new data, unlike scientific experiments and astronomical observations, new perspectives arise from ethics, semiotics and the philosophy of theology. All of these frontier disciplines will be given some attention in the present work (Sections 'Philosophy its frontiers with astrobiology, Ethics its frontiers with astrobiology and Frontiers of theology and of astrobiology').

Horizons and limits of astrobiology and the humanities

There is a clear formulation of the boundaries between the main areas of astrobiology and humanities, which we intend to discuss in some detail. Fortunately, they were highlighted by Bertrand Russell, who had in mind science in general (not astrobiology in particular) in his major work on popularization of philosophy: *History of Western Philosophy and its Connection with Political and Social Circumstances from the Earliest Times to the Present Day* (Russell, 1991):

Philosophy, as I shall understand the word, is something intermediate between theology and science. Like theology, it consists of speculations on matters as to which definite knowledge has, so far, been unascertainable; but like science it appeals to human reason rather than authority, whether that of tradition or that of revelation...But between theology and science there is a No Man's Land, exposed to attack from both sides; this No Man's Land is philosophy.

In this citation, the remarkable English mathematician, philosopher and literature Nobel Laureate expressed clearly the need to recall the precise horizons and limits of any scientific endeavour (e.g. in our case, astrobiology) and two of the main components of the humanities. An earlier contribution in this direction (Martini and Chela-Flores, 1999a), which is discussed more fully here, is an objective of the remaining part of this work.

Issues that are relevant for astrobiology

Questions that come within the scope of astrobiology

We can raise a series of questions that we would recognize to have philosophical, semiotic, ethical or theological content, and yet be relevant for the astrobiologist. Amongst them, we should mention:

- (i) *Epistemology*: Does it make sense to construct a new science on life's origins, not as a terrestrial phenomenon, but rather as a cosmic distribution of life of which, so far, we have no evidence?
- (ii) *Issues on the philosophy of theology*: The main debate on ethics is between transcendentalists and empiricists. Nevertheless, we must not exclude, but instead we should pay special attention to some religious aspects of morality, such as Jesus's 'Sermon on the Mount' (Mathew, 5, 1–14, written c. 85 AD), as mentioned earlier (Chela-Flores, 2021a).
- (iii) *Public policy*: What are the right policies for implementing public power in order to respect, preserve and improve the quality of life on Earth, and beyond?

A question concerning frontiers of philosophy and astrobiology

Within astrobiology's third chapter, the distribution of life in the universe, a major objective since the 1960s has been the search for extra-terrestrial intelligence (SETI). Such contact is expected to be in terms of signals received by means of specialized radio-telescopes that should be equipped to participate in SETI projects. In the 1960s, the American astronomer Frank Drake suggested the 'SETI Project'. Drake suggested that whoever attempted to communicate via radio would choose a familiar wavelength. The radio telescope was pointed towards two stars near the Sun (Epsilon Eridani and Tau Ceti). The SETI Project has multiple options for searching beyond the original Epsilon Eridani and Tau Ceti. Indeed, the Kepler and subsequent missions, have been able to find possibly habitable Earth-size planets, or moons around other stars.

The opinion of Drake on the profound philosophical questions that are raised by the search for other intelligence in the cosmos has been clearly expressed (Drake and Sobel, 1992):

SETI promises answers to our most profound questions about who we are and where we stand in the universe. SETI is at once the most technical of scientific subjects, and also one of the most human.

Philosophy its frontiers with astrobiology

When philosophy meets astrobiology

In the 19th century it was evident that deep issues were widespread in the nature of human beings, not least of all the Darwinian theory of evolution. However, at present both philosophy and astrobiology is recognized to be central in questions related to our humanity and concerned with the position of humans in the universe. But since the methods and training of both philosophers and astrobiologists are so different, it is tactful to address the philosophical foundations and the main issues that are involved in the common frontier between these two sectors of modern culture. Our aim is to discuss the relevant issues when astrobiology meets philosophy.

Intelligibility of nature

The question whether Nature can be intelligible is of paramount relevance across the frontiers of astrobiology, especially beginning with philosophy (Chela-Flores, 2009, Chapter 14). Intelligibility, does not end with a preliminary understanding of the emergence of life, but is linked with the evolution of life (Dear, 2006). Intelligible means the capability of being understood.

Alternatively, intelligible can signify to be apprehensible by the intellect alone. A third aspect of intelligible, closer to the significance of the term in the context of the present work, is related to something that is beyond perception. An 'intelligible universe' can be the starting point of a prolonged and systematic discussion amongst astrobiologists, as well as philosophers and theologians. The intelligibility of the universe raises questions that lie on the frontier between science and the humanities. Steven Weinberg felt that (Weinberg, 1977):

It is very hard to realize that this all is just a tiny part of an overwhelmingly hostile universe. It is even harder to realize that this present universe has evolved from an unspeakably unfamiliar early condition, and faces a future extinction of endless cold or intolerable heat. The more the universe seems comprehensible, the more it also seems pointless.

This statement reflects a specific philosophical trend – existentialism stimulating the dialogue of science and religion. Discovering a second Genesis anywhere else in the universe should contribute to clarify the intelligibility of nature.

Ethics its frontiers with astrobiology

Astrobiology and bioehitics

As with the two previous frontiers of astrobiology, it is worthwhile to discuss astrobioethics, when we extend our concepts related to humans to other forms of life that eventually may be in contact with us in the long term. We begin with the question (Chela-Flores, 2021a):

Can ethical behaviour be extended into a cosmic context?

To make sense of a rational approach to ethics with respect to non-human species, we should first clarify whether the cosmos is a well-determined ordered system, and hence intelligible to all observers (cf., Sec. 'Intelligibility of nature'). If so, then our ideas of ethical behaviour can be extended into a cosmic context with no motivation for viewing the origin and evolution of the universe and life itself, as being absurd, or pointless. This existentialist point of view is a form of philosophical inquiry that explores the problem of human existence, including a sense of anxiety in the face of an apparently meaningless, or absurd world. This philosophical doctrine explores issues related to the *meaning* of human existence. This can be considered as yet one more example of the interdisciplinarity between philosophy, semiotics and astrobiology.

Strong support has been given to intelligibility: Darwin developed an explanation of the origin of humans based on natural selection and underlying random mutations. Clearly, this approach made it unnecessary, within the scope of the scientific method, to appeal to metaphysical concepts that cannot be rejected by experiments. The Darwinian new insights into randomness has allowed the substitution of the concept of necessity –determinism– for the concept of chance – probability – in order to explain both the existence of phenomena, as well as their type of structure.

Certain general ideas are clear, even before our technology will allow us to reach the possibility of developing instrumentation for the search of life on exoplanets. This possibility will inevitably present us with significant challenges arising from the ever-increasing pace of the exploration of the Solar System and, more generally, from the rapid progress of the space sciences. Amongst the priorities of astrobiology, we should consider the search for other lines of biological evolution in the universe. In the short term a possible solution can be provided with the missions (ESA, JUICE) and (NASA, Europa Clipper), both aiming at the exploration of the moons of the Jovian system (Chela-Flores, 2021b).

The overlapping of moral philosophy and astrobiology

Some of the deepest questions that humans have raised are not confined within the frontiers of science. Instead, philosophers, including ethicists, and theologians have approached such questions with their own expertize. One such example is provided by the question of the role of ethics in astrobiology, whether of transcendental or empirical origin. The question of ethics in the wider context of astrobiology has been given its proper significant position in a cultural context —astrobioethics— a branch of astrobiology that studies the moral implications related to the search of non-human life beyond the Earth (Cockell, 2008; Chon-Torres, 2018, 2021).

The foundational ethical principles for planetary protection in space exploration, whether for the extension of our knowledge of planetary science, or for the search for life in our local cosmic environment, has been extensively discussed in the literature. In particular, it has been noted that we need to examine with care the exploration of the Solar System taking into consideration our own environment, or other planetary bodies (Rummel *et al.*, 2012). Astrobioethics has been a central question in astrobiology, as the problem of backward contamination is a major problem in space exploration, providing strict financial and temporal limitations (Tänczer *et al.*, 1989). In other words, Planetary Protection should be kept in mind, while deciding the design of space missions. Its purpose is to prevent biological contamination of sample-return missions.

Frontiers of ethics: instrumentation and microorganisms

The possibility of exploring Europa's habitability was raised very early. Soon after, the Galileo mission was proposed to examine the Jovian system with a Europa Lander, equipped with a submersible called a 'hydrobot' that was coupled to an ice-breaker called a 'cryobot' (Trowell *et al.*, 1996; Horvath *et al.*, 1997). For valid reasons, sometime later, the hydrobot-cryobot proposal was rightly criticized and subsequently abandoned (Greenberg, 2005), even though a suggested improved proposal was later independently suggested (Zimmerman *et al.*, 2001).

The relevant question – a possibility that was not considered – was whether the cryobot was to be driven with nuclear energy in order to penetrate the Europan icy surface more efficiently. The question of considering nuclear-powered cryobots had arisen in the context of solar system exploration, including the Europan icy surface penetration with our previously suggested pair of cryobot-hydrobots. The levels of fission power and related harmful radiation are normally small for humans. A study was carried out in order to investigate whether a surface fission power system was applicable for landed missions. In the course of their study, it became clear that the application of such a power system was possible for a wide range of missions for the exploration of the Solar System (Ulamec, *et al.*, 2007), especially for Mars (Elliot *et al.*, 2003). Their study was concerned with fission electrical power of the order of a few kilowatts. This level is needed for payloads that are feasible, since the alternative of radioisotope power systems being too massive and expensive.

Even though the radiation levels are tolerable for humans, the possibility remains that once we envisage non-human species elsewhere in the Solar System, we are *a priori* ignorant of the harm we could make to other forms of life, especially microorganisms. Profound ethical arguments arise due to the use of innovative instrumentation that may not consider harming microorganisms:

What is wrong with killing with radiation a putative living community that is being searched?

We believed, and still do (a testable hypothesis), that living microorganisms are likely to dwell near hydrothermal vents on the Europan ocean floor. The need of searching for life on Europa had already been extensively discussed at that time, soon after the arrival of the Galileo probe in the Jovian System (Chela-Flores, 1998).

However, we should take care when going beyond the early proposal of cryobot technology that would need fission power to help cryobot penetration. This is another significant illustration of a frontier of astrobiology and moral philosophy.

Frontiers of theology and of astrobiology

Natural theology and the theology of nature

The distinction between natural theology and the theology of nature is relevant for interpreting correctly the dilemmas that may arise at the frontiers of astrobiology and the humanities (Haught, 2005). Natural theology was a truly remarkable movement. For Isaac Newton there was no reason for planets and their

moons moving in almost the same plane (Newton, 1692). This phenomenon led to Newton's own interpretation, at present not accepted to be within the frontiers of science:

The motions which the planets now have could not spring from any natural cause alone, but were impressed by an intelligent Agent.

On the other hand, closer to our own time, the theology of nature moves in the opposite direction. Accepting science, theology attempts to come to a more fundamental understanding. It relies on the unifying explanatory power of science (Coyne, 2006). The supposition is that there is a universal basis for our understanding and, since that basis cannot be self-contradictory, the understanding we have from one discipline should complement that which we have from all other disciplines. While remaining faithful to the strict truth criteria of one's own discipline, we are open to accept the truth-value of the conclusions of other disciplines.

These comments illustrate some inevitable conflicts and contradictions that must be seen as temporary and apparent. As professional scientists we cannot participate in purely theological arguments, although they can serve as an encouragement to search for deeper scientific insights.

Implications of the search for a second genesis

We continue our discussion by exploring two different questions at the border between science and the humanities: Firstly, what are the implications of the search for a 'Second Genesis'? (McKay, 2001). This concept that is at the basis of astrobiology is the search for traces and footprints of the emergence of biological complexity elsewhere in the universe. Secondly, a closely related uncertainty is: What are the implications of a positive answer to the significant question of life existing elsewhere in the universe? Indeed, the compatibility of a Second Genesis with science is the subject matter of astrobiology, while the compatibility of a Second Genesis with religious belief, especially with Christian belief, lies within the domain of natural theology (Chela-Flores, 2005). Christianity inherited the simplicity of Jewish theology. Monotheism does not present us with any particular stumbling stone for incorporating the emergence of life beyond the Earth. For making a dialogue between science and religion a constructive one, we should delineate clearly the frontiers and horizons of science with other cultural sectors, such as philosophy and theology. A large number of excellent writings have preceded us. From a long list of available texts, we highlight only a few of them (Polkinghorne, 1996; Coyne, 1998; Haught, 1998; Peacocke, 1998; Ratzinger, 2009).

Clearly, if astrobiology research concludes that we are not alone in the universe, there are some unavoidable ethical, and theological consequences for which we still have no answer. For instance, outstanding amongst them are those found in theologies of different traditions, which have made substantial progress in questions that are shared with the new science of astrobiology (Russell, 2001). They have also been considered by Christian thinkers of different traditions (Martini and Coyne, 1999b; McMullin, 2007) These authors expose the wide range of implications, in which astrobiology has influenced the cultural sector, including astrotheology.

Further care with the frontiers of astrobiology

Unlike astrobiology and astrobioethics, the significance of meaning in astrotheology is based on revelation, or tradition. Hence, there is an intrinsic novelty regarding the question of meanings: The basis of theology, or any of its extensions when the phenomenon of life is viewed from a cosmic perspective, is irreducible to an experimental approach, unlike bioethics. Consequently, from the point of view of theology meanings are intrinsically related to faith alone, since meanings would be interpreted in terms of revelation.

Understanding the above discussion, serves as a basis for avoiding misinterpretations in the dialogue of faith and reason. An example suffices to make this point clear: Questions regarding the implications of Darwinism are entirely within the domain of a scientific theory. Confusion is to be avoided, as no theory

can invalidate a theological belief, as it may be suggested by radical atheism. As opposed to this scientific fundamentalism, the opposite, religious fundamentalism is equally to be avoided; questions of creation should not be taken outside the boundaries of faith. Any attempt to suggest that a theory of creation could be opposed to Darwinism should be avoided. A second example of the implication of meanings from a theological perspective can be found in a recent article (Chon-Torres and Szocik, 2021):

When we speak of the meaning of life, [it] cannot be easily described, and must be experienced. This coincides with the fourth aspect of faith that theology studies, experience.

The authors were quoting the Lutheran theologian Ted Peters (Peters, 2018). Finally, regarding the question of meaning from the point of view of some philosopher-scientists (existentialists and radical atheists), the emergence of life are the results of improbable random events in an otherwise lifeless cosmos. Opposing this limited view, the American philosopher-theologian John F. Haught is of the opinion that a first contact would scarcely change the minds of 'those already comfortable with the notion of an essentially mindless universe devoid of meaning' (Haught, 2001).

Conclusions

With the few examples we have discussed, it is evident that time-honoured topics of philosophy, including ethics and the philosophy of theology acquire a special relevance when they address the search for life in the universe. This underlines the relevance of delineating the frontiers of astrobiology, as we have attempted to do in the present work.

As it was done in the past in moral philosophy for non-human animals on Earth, astrobiology's frontiers are especially relevant when we consider life in other worlds. The limits and horizons of science in general, and astrobiology in particular, contribute to avoid incorrect approaches on both sides of the frontiers of astrobiology.

Firstly, we should reject fundamentalism in religion that ignores the well-defined scope of the basis of Darwinism, the epoch-making scientific basis of the life sciences, including astrobiology (Ayala *et al.*, 1999).

Secondly, fundamentalism in science, as well as in astrobiology should especially be avoided (Harris, 2004; Dawkins, 2007; Dennett, 2007). It ignores that the limitations of the scientific approach are constrained exclusively to theoretical statements that are subject to experimental verification. Any judgement on the philosophy of theology cannot be based on science, including astrobiology, as it would be using incorrectly the scientific method beyond its frontiers, as outlined in this work.

Glossary

ASTROBIOETHICS: Astrobioethics is the subsection within astrobiology that concerns itself with studying the moral implications of implementing practical applications of the search for extra-terrestrial life.

ASTROTHEOLOGY: A branch of theology providing a critical analysis of space sciences for the purpose of constructing an understanding of our human condition within a cosmic context.

CONVERGENT EVOLUTION: This is an independent evolution of similar genetic or morphological features.

ETHICS (MORAL PHILOSOPHY): A branch of philosophy, which is associated with economics, politics and sociology. It is concerned with what is morally good and bad with a given activity, right and wrong. Ethics is divided into metaethics, normative ethics and applied ethics.

NATURAL THEOLOGY: One aspect of theology (cf., definitions of theology and theology of nature) that focuses on rationalizing religious truths, or traditions independent of revelation.

PHILOSOPHY OF THEOLOGY: a branch of philosophy in which methods are used to analyse theological concepts. It includes natural theology.

THEOLOGY: A field that interprets faith and experience of a given religious group.

THEOLOGY OF NATURE: Accepting science, theology attempts to rely on the unifying explanatory power of science.

Acknowledgements. The author would like to thank Dr Atish Dabholkar, the International Atomic Agency and UNESCO for hospitality at The Abdus Salam International Centre for Theoretical Physics, Trieste, Italy.

Conflict of interest. No conflict of interests exist.

References

- Aretxaga-Burgos R and Chela-Flores J (2012) Cultural implications of the search and eventual discovery of a second genesis. In Seckbach J (ed.), Genesis In the Beginning Precursors of Life, Chemical Models and Early Biological Evolution. Cellular Origin and Life in Extreme Habitats and Astrobiology, Vol. 22. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer, pp. 873–890.
- Ayala FJ, Cicerone RJ, Clegg MT, Brernt Dalrymple G, Dickerson RE, Gould SJ, Herschbach DR, Kennedy D, McInnery JD, Moore JA, Ostriker JP, Rupp G, Scott E, Schulz B and Stanley SM (1999) Science and Creationism. A View from the National Academy of Science, 2nd Edn. Washington, DC: National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, National Academy Press, p. 35.
- Chela-Flores J (1998) The phenomenon of the eukaryotic cell. In Russell RJ, Stoeger WR and Ayala FJ (eds), *Evolutionary and Molecular Biology: Scientific Perspectives on Divine Action*. Vatican City State/Berkeley, CA: Vatican Observatory and the Center for Theology and the Natural Sciences, pp. 79–99.
- Chela-Flores J (2005) Fitness of the universe for a second genesis is it compatible with science and Christianity? *Science and Christian Belief* 17, 187–197.
- Chela-Flores J (2009) A Second Genesis: Stepping Stones Towards the Intelligibility of Nature. Singapore: World Scientific Publishers, p. 181. Available at http://www.ictp.it/~chelaf/ss220.html.
- Chela-Flores J (2011) The Science of Astrobiology a Personal Point of View on Learning to Read the Book of Life, 2nd Edn. Book series: Cellular Origin, Life in Extreme Habitats and Astrobiology. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer, pp. 247–256. ISBN: 978-94-007-1626-1. Available at http://www.ictp.it/~chelaf/ss220.html.
- Chela-Flores J (2019) Astrobiology and Humanism: Conversations on the Frontiers of Science, Philosophy and Theology. Newcastle upon Tyne, UK: Cambridge Scholars Publishing. ISBN (10): 1-5275-3436-7; ISBN (13): 978-1-5275-3436-0. Available at http://www.ictp.it/~chelaf/ss220.html.
- Chela-Flores J (2021a) Foreword. In Chon Torres OA, Peters T, Seckbach J and Gordon R (eds). Astrobiology: Science, Ethics, and Public Policy. Beverly, MA, USA: Scrivener Publishing, Wiley, pp. xv-xviii.
- Chela-Flores J (2021b) Miniaturised instrumentation for the detection of biosignatures in ocean worlds of the solar system. Frontiers in Space Technologies 2, id. 703809. DOI: 10.3389/frspt.2021.703809
- Chon-Torres OA (2018) Astrobioethics. International Journal of Astrobiology 17, 51–56.
- Chon-Torres OA (2021) Disciplinary nature of astrobiology and astrobioethic's epistemic foundations. *International Journal of Astrobiology* 20, 186–193.
- Chon-Torres OA and Szocik K (2021) A brief epistemological discussion of astrotheology in the light of astrobiology. *International Journal of Astrobiology* **21**, 1–8. doi:10.1017/S1473550421000367.
- Čirković MM (2012) The Astrobiological Landscape: Philosophical Foundations of the Study of Cosmic Life. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Cockell C (2008) Essay on extraterrestrial liberty. Journal of the British Interplanetary Society 61, 255-275.
- Coyne GV (1998) The concept of matter and materialism in the origin and evolution of life. In Chela-Flores J and Raulin F (eds), *Exobiology: Matter, Energy, and Information in the Origin and Evolution of Life in the Universe.* Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers, pp. 71–80.
- Coyne GV (2006) Destiny of life and religious attitudes. In Seckbach J (ed). *Life As We Know It*. Dordrecht: Springer Science, pp. 519–535.
- Dawkins R (2007) The God Delusion. London, UK: Black Swan. ISBN 978-0-552-77429-1.
- Dear P (2006) The Intelligibility of Nature How Science Makes Sense of the World. Chicago, USA: The University of Chicago Press, 254p.
- Dennett D (2007) Breaking the Spell: Religion as a Natural Phenomenon. London: Penguin, p. 464. ISBN 978-0141017778. Dick SJ (2012) Critical issues in the history, philosophy and sociology of astrobiology. Astrobiology 12, 906–927.
- Drake F and Sobel D (1992) Is Anyone Out There? The Scientific Search for Extraterrestrial Intelligence. New York: Dalacorte Pres. p. xiii.
- Duner D (2012) Introduction: the history of philosophy and astrobiology. Astrobiology 12, 901–905.
- Elliott JO, Lipinski RJ and Poston DI (2003) Mission concept for a nuclear reactor-powered Mars Cryobot lander. *AIP Conference Proceedings* **654**, 353.
- Greenberg R (2005) Europa The Ocean Moon Search for An Alien Biosphere. New York: Springer.

- Harris S (2004) The End of Faith: Religion, Terror, and the Future of Reason. New York, USA: W.W. Norton & Company. ISBN 978-0-7432-6809-7.
- Haught JF (1998) Darwin's gift to theology. In Russell RJ, Stoeger WR and Ayala FJ (eds), Evolutionary and Molecular Biology: Scientific Perspectives on Divine Action. Vatican City State/Berkeley, CA: Vatican Observatory and The Center for Theology and the Natural Sciences, pp. 393–418.
- Haught JF (2001) Theology after contact: religion and extraterrestrial intelligent life. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* **950**, 296–308.
- Haught JF (2005) The Boyle Lecture 2003: Darwin, design and the promise of nature. Science & Christian Belief 17, 5-20.
- Horvath J, Carsey F, Cutts J, Jones J, Johnson E, Landry B, Lane L, Lynch G, Chela-Flores J, Jeng T-W and Bradley A (1997) Searching for ice and ocean biogenic activity on Europa and Earth. In Hoover RB (ed). *Instruments, Methods and Missions for Investigation of Extraterrestrial Microorganisms. Proc. SPIE 3111*. Bellingham, Washington, USA: Society of Photo-Optical Instrumentation Engineers (SPIE), pp. 490–500. Available at http://www.ictp.it/~chelaf/searching_for_ice.html.
- Martini CM and Chela-Flores J (1999a) Dialogo Carlo Maria Martini e Julian Chela-Flores. In Carlo Maria Martini Orizzonti e limiti della scienza Decima Cattedra di non credenti, Sindoni E and Sinigaglia C (eds). *In 'Scienze e Idee'*, *Directed by Giulio Giorello*. Milano: Raffaello Cortina Editore, pp. 65–68. Available at http://www.ictp.it/~chelaf/martinijcf.html.
- Martini CM and Coyne G (1999b) Dialogo. In Sindoni E and Sinigaglia C (eds). Carlo Maria Martini Orizzonti e limiti della scienza Decima Cattedra di non credenti. In the series Scienze e Idee, Directed by G. Giorello. Milan: Raffaello Cortina Editore, pp. 37–40.
- McKay CP (2001) The search for a second genesis in the solar system. In Chela-Flores J, Owen T and Raulin F (eds), *The First Steps of Life in the Universe*. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers, pp. 269–277.
- McMullin E (2007) Tuning fine-tuning. In Barrow J, Conway Morris S, Freeland S and Harper Jr. CL (eds). *Fitness of the Cosmos for Life: Biochemistry and Fine-Tuning*. Cambridge: Cambridge Astrobiology. Cambridge University Press, pp. 70–94.
- Mix LJ (2016) Life-value narratives and the impact of astrobiology on Christian ethics. Zygon 51, 520-535.
- Mix LJ (2018) Philosophy and data in astrobiology. International Journal of Astrobiology 17, 189-200.
- Newton I (1692) Original Letter from Isaac Newton to Richard Bentley, Dated 10 December 1692. 189.R.4.47, ff. 7-8. Cambridge, UK: Trinity College Library. (The Newton Project). Published online: October 2007). Available at http://www.newtonproject.sussex.ac.uk/view/texts/normalized/THEM00258.
- Peacocke A (1998) Biological evolution a positive theological appraisal. In Russell RJ, Stoeger WR and Ayala FJ (eds), Evolutionary and Molecular Biology: Scientific Perspectives on Divine Action. Vatican City State/Berkeley, CA: Vatican Observatory and the Center for Theology and The Natural Sciences, pp. 357–376.
- Peters T (ed.) (2018) Astrotheology: Science and Theology Meet Extraterrestrial Life. Eugene, Oregon, USA: Cascade Books. Polkinghorne J (1996) Scientists as Theologians a Comparison of the Writings of Ian Barbur, Arthur Peacocke and John Polkinghorne. London: SPCK Publishing.
- Pryor A (2020) Living with tiny aliens: The Image of God for the Anthropocene. New York: Fordham University Press.
- Ratzinger J (2009) Progetto di Dio Meditazioni sulla creazione e la Chiesa. Venice, Italy: Marcianum Press, 2012. Translation of: Gottes Projekt. Nachdenken über Schöpfung und Kirche. Mit einem geleitwort von egon Kapellari. herausgegebn von Michael Langer und Karl-Heinz Kronawetter. in zusammenarbeit mit georg schmuttermayr. © 2009, Vlg Friedrich pustet, Regensburg.
- Riedo A, Grimaudo V, Aerts JW, Lukmanov R, Tulej M, Broekmann P, Lindner R, Wurz P and Ehrenfreund P (2021) Laser ablation ionization mass spectrometry: a space prototype system for *In situ* sulphur isotope fractionation analysis on planetary surfaces. *Frontiers in Astronomy and Space Sciences* 8, 726373. doi: 10.3389/fspas.2021.726373
- Rummel JD, Race MS and Horneck G and the Princeton Workshop Participants (2012) Ethical considerations for planetary protection in space exploration: a workshop. *Astrobiology* **12**, 1017–1023.
- Russell B (1991) History of Western Philosophy and its Connection with Political and Social Circumstances from the Earliest Times to the Present Day, 2nd Edn. London: George Allen & Unwin, p. 13.
- Russell RJ (2001) Life in the universe: philosophical and theological issues. In Chela-Flores J, Owen T and Raulin F (eds), *The First Steps of Life in the Universe*. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers, pp. 365–374.
- Tänczer JDR, Ketskeméty L and Lévai G (1989) Planetary protection policy overview and application to future missions. Advances in Space Research 9, 181–184.
- Traphagan JW (2016) Science, Culture and the Search for Life on Other Worlds. Berlin: Springer.
- Trowell S, Wild J, Horvath J, Jones J, Johnson E and Cutts J (1996) Through the Europan ice: advanced lander mission options. In Nash D (ed). *The Europa Ocean Conference, San Juan Capistrano Research Institute*. San Juan Capistrano, CA: San Juan Capistrano Research Institute, pp. 76.
- Ulamec S, Biele J, Funke O and Engelhardt M (2007) Access to glacial and subglacial environments in the solar system by melting probe technology. *Reviews in Environmental Science and Biotechnology* **6**, 71–94.
- Vainio OP (2018) Cosmology in Theological Perspective. Grand Rapids, MI: Baker Academic.
- Weinberg S (1977) The First Three Minutes. A Modern View of the Origin of the Universe. Glasgow, UK: Fontana/Collins, pp. 148–149.
- Zimmerman W, Bryant S, Zitzelberger J and Nesmith B (2001) A radioisotope powered cryobot for penetrating the Europan ice shell. *AIP Conference Proceedings* **552**, 707–715.